THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Mikell R. Scarborough, Master in Equity

Case No. 2016-CP-10-1143
[Appellate Case No. 2016-002308]

RECEIVED

MAR 06 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Palmetto Construction Group, LLC

Respondent

v.

Restoration Specialists, LLC,
Reuben Mark Ward, and
Lynnette Pennington Ward

Appellants

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Bright Ariail
SC License #69570
Law Office of A. Bright Ariail, LLC
125E Wappoo Creek Drive, Suite 202
Charleston, SC 29412
843/814-8805
Attorney for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE COURT ERR IN FAILING TO SET ASIDE THE ENTRY OF DEFAULT?

- II. DID THE COURT ERR IN FAILING TO STAY THIS ACTION AND COMPEL MANDATORY MEDIATION/ARBITRATION?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action arises out of a construction project in Augusta, Georgia. The

Respondent and Appellant Restoration Specialists, LLC (“Appellant Restoration”) entered into a Subcontract Agreement in connection with the Project. Respondent filed this lawsuit on March 7, 2016, alleging a breach of the Subcontract Agreement. (*Summons and Complaint, with Exhibits*). Simultaneously with filing the lawsuit, Respondent filed a Motion to Stay and to Compel on March 7, 2016. (*Plaintiff’s Motion to Stay and to Compel*). The basis of Respondent’s Motion to Stay and to Compel was that the Subcontract Agreement contained mandatory mediation/arbitration provisions requiring the Court to stay the litigation and the parties to mediate in Georgia or other agreed upon location and, if necessary, arbitrate all claims contained in Respondent’s lawsuit. (*Id.*)

Respondent simultaneously served all Appellants with both the Complaint and Motion to Stay and to Compel on March 14, 2016. (*Motion to Refer to the Master In Equity and for Entry of Default*).

Respondent filed a Motion to Refer to the Master in Equity and for Entry of Default on April 18, 2016. (*Id.*). The Circuit Court entered default against the Appellants on April 21, 2016. (*Order of April 20, 2016*).

On the evening of June 2, 2016, the Appellants were served with a Notice of Hearing scheduling the default damages hearing for June 6, 2016. (*Affidavit I of Reuben Mark Ward of June 3, 2016 and Notice of Hearing of June 1, 2016*). The Appellants were unaware of the default status of the case and the scheduling of the damages hearing until they received this hearing Notice on June 2, 2016. (*Affidavit II of Reuben Mark Ward of June 3, 2016*). Upon receipt of this Notice of Hearing, the Appellants immediately retained legal counsel on June 3, 2016. (*Id.*). Appellants’ counsel immediately filed a Motion for Continuance of the damages hearing and a Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default on June

3, 2016, citing the mandatory mediation/arbitration provisions and Respondent's Motion to Stay and Compel mediation/arbitration as one of their grounds for relief. (*Defendants' Notice of Motion and Motion for Continuance and Protection Pursuant to SCRCF 6(d) and 40 (i) and Defendants' Notice of Motion and Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default Pursuant to SCRCF 55(c)*).

At the hearing on June 6, 2016, the Master in Equity ("Master") granted Appellants' Motion for Continuance of the damages hearing and held the Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default in abeyance. (*Transcript of Proceedings Held June 6, 2016 p. 11 line 18 – p. 12 line 4*). The Master then directed the Appellants to provide financial information relative to the Project to see what could be resolved between the parties and scheduled the matter to reconvene for a status conference on July 14, 2016. (*Id. p. 12 line 6 – 20*). Per the Master's direction, the Appellants provided certain relevant documents and basic written discovery responses to Respondent.

On July 11, 2016, the Appellants filed a formal Motion to Stay and to Compel on the basis of the mandatory contractual mediation/arbitration provisions. (*Defendants' Notice of Motion and Motion to Stay and to Compel Pursuant to SCRCF 12(b)(2) and Applicable Case Law*). In addition, the Appellants joined in and consented to Respondent's Motion to Stay and to Compel, rendering that motion a joint Motion to Stay and to Compel mandatory mediation/arbitration ("Joint Motion"). (*Id.*). As such, Appellants' singular and joint Motions to Stay and Compel mandatory mediation/arbitration were pending before the Master at this time.¹

¹ While Respondent asserts that it "set aside" or "withdrew" its Motion to Stay and Compel, Appellants have not been provided a copy of documentation reflecting Respondent's setting aside or withdrawal of said motion, and, there is likewise nothing in the record substantiating same.

The parties reconvened before the Master on July 14, 2016. (*Transcript of Proceedings Held July 14, 2016*). The Appellants also filed a Memorandum in Support of their Motion to Lift Entry of Default on July 14, 2016, which included Appellants' continued assertion of their right to arbitration. (*Memorandum in Support of Defendants' Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default Pursuant to SCRCP 55(c)*). During the reconvened hearing the Master stated that the Clerk of Court "closed out" the Respondent's Motion to Stay and Compel. (*Transcript of Proceedings Held July 14, 2016 p. 9 line 5-7*). The Clerk's closure of the motion occurred despite Appellant's joinder in the motion. The Master issued a bench ruling finding that the Clerk's action constituted an adjudication of this motion. (*Id. p. 9 line 8-9*). The Master further ruled from the bench finding Appellants in default, denying Appellants' Motion to Lift Entry of Default and scheduling a default damages hearing for October 4, 2016. (*Id. p. 9 line 12 – 17 and p. 12 line 7-8*).

Upon completion of the reconvened hearing, the Master issued a formal order dated July 14, 2016. (*Order of July 14, 2016*). The Master's formal order: (a): Denied Appellants' Motion to Lift Entry of Default for lack of good cause; (b): Denied Appellants' Motion to Stay and Compel mandatory mediation/arbitration on the basis of default; and (c): Set a damages hearing for October 4, 2016. (*Id.*). Appellants received written notice of entry of these orders on July 18, 2016. (*Emails, with Cover Letter, filed with the Court on July 22, 2016*).

The Appellants filed a timely Motion to Reconsider and to Alter and Amend the Master's orders pursuant to SCRCP 59(e) and applicable case law on July 27, 2016. (*Defendants' Notice of Motion and Motion to Reconsider and to Alter or Amend Pursuant to SCRCP 59(e) and Applicable Case Law*). The Master scheduled the hearing on

Appellants' Rule 59(e) motion to be held on October 11, 2016, seven days after the scheduled damages hearing on October 4, 2016. (*Charleston County Roster Details – Master's Docket for October 11, 2016.*)

On September 7, 2016 standing on their rights to mandatory mediation/arbitration, the Appellants requested in writing that the Master schedule the hearing on Appellants' Rule 59(e) motion prior to the October 4, 2016 damages hearing. (*Attorney Ariail Letter to Judge Scarborough of September 7, 2016 received by the Court on September 13, 2016.*)

On September 7, 2106, the Master replied to Appellants' request and made the decision to switch the hearing dates, with the motions hearing to be held on October 4, 2016 and, if necessary, the damages hearing to be held on October 11, 2016. (*Emails, with Cover Letter, filed with the Court on September 22, 2016.*) The Master asked the parties to advise if this plan was acceptable. (*Id.*) The Appellants informed the Master that this plan was acceptable. (*Id.*) The Respondent notified the Master that it would defer to the Master, but preferred the damages hearing to proceed on October 4, 2016 and the motions hearing to be held thereafter on October 11, 2016. (*Id.*)

After further consideration, the Master then rendered a decision not to switch the hearing dates and informed the parties that the damages hearing would proceed on October 4, 2016 and the motions hearing would be held on October 11, 2016. (*Id.*) The Appellants received written notice of the Master's decision on September 12, 2016. (*Id.*)

The Master's decision to proceed with the damages hearing and not hear the Appellants' Rule 59(e) motion prior thereto effectively denied this motion as proceeding with the damages hearing under these circumstances would severely prejudice, and potentially force a waiver of Appellants' rights to arbitration and foreclose any appeal

therefrom. Therefore, subject to, without waiving and fully reserving their rights to arbitration, the Appellants commenced an appeal in this matter on September 30, 2016. (*Notice of Appeal*).

On September 30, 2016, after service of the Notice of Appeal on Respondent, the Appellants filed the Notice of Appeal with the Charleston County Clerk of Court. (*Letter from Law Office of A. Bright Ariail, LLC to Charleston County Clerk of Court*). On October 3, 2016, the Respondent filed its first Motion to Dismiss Appeal. (*Respondent's Emergency Motion to Dismiss Appeal and for Expedited Review, dated October 3, 2016*). The Court of Appeals returned Respondent's first Motion to Dismiss on October 4, 2016 because no Notice of Appeal had been filed with the Court of Appeals as of that date. (*Court of Appeals Letter to Respondent*).

On October 5, 2016, the Appellants filed the Notice of Appeal, along with the filing fee and copies of the orders challenged on appeal with the Clerk of the Court of Appeals. (*Attorney Ariail Letter to Court of Appeals, with Exhibits*). The copies of the orders filed with the Clerk of the Court of Appeals included the Master's Bench Order contained in the transcript of the July 14, 2016 hearing and the Master's formal written order dated July 14, 2016. (*Id.*). The Appellants simultaneously served the Respondent with a copy of the October 5, 2016 filing with the Clerk of the Court of Appeals on October 5, 2016. (*Id.*).

On October 6, 2016, the Appellants refiled the Notice of Appeal, along with a second filing fee and copies of the orders challenged on appeal with the Clerk of the Court of Appeals. (*Attorney Ariail Letter to Court of Appeals, with Exhibits*). The Appellants refiled these documents to include the court reporter's certification of the July 14, 2016 hearing transcript containing the Master's bench order. (*Id.*). The court reporter's

certification had been inadvertently omitted from the Appellants' October 5, 2016 filing with the Clerk of the Court of Appeals. (*Id.*) The Appellants simultaneously served the Respondent with a copy of the October 6, 2016 filing with the Clerk of the Court of Appeals on October 6, 2016. (*Id.*)

Although this case was under appeal, the Master notified all parties that he intended to go forward with the hearing set for October 4, 2016. (*Emails, with Cover Letter, filed with the Court on October 4, 2016*). During that hearing, the Master did not proceed with the damages hearing nor issue a ruling on the Rule 59(e) motion, but stated that he wished to establish a record for appellate court review of this matter. (*Transcript of Proceedings Held October 4, 2016 p. 9 lines 14-19*). Accordingly, the Master accepted Appellants' Memorandum in Support of Defendant's Motion to Reconsider and to Alter or Amend (*Memorandum in Support of Defendant's Motion to Reconsider and to Alter or Amend Pursuant to SCRCP 59(e) and Applicable Case Law*), discussed the procedural posture of the case (*Transcript of Proceedings Held October 4, 2016 p. 1-10*), allowed the parties to proffer information related to Appellants' Motion to Reconsider and to Alter or Amend (*Id. p. 10 – 26*) and allowed Respondent to proffer information related to damages alleged (*Id. p. 26 – 28 and p. 31 - 32*), to which Appellants' vehemently objected (*Id. p. 29 -31*). Further, the Court asked Respondent to provide a responsive memorandum to Appellants' Rule 59(e) motion within ten (10) days, and allowed Appellants' five (5) days to reply (*Id. p. 22 and 31-32*). Respondent filed its memorandum in opposition on October 26, 2016 (*Plaintiff's Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Reconsider Alter or Amend*) and Appellants replied thereto on October 25, 2016. (*Defendants' Reply to Respondent's Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Reconsider Alter or Amend*).

On October 27, 2016, the Respondent filed its second Motion to Dismiss Appeal. (*Respondent's Motion to Dismiss Appeal and for Expedited Review, dated October 27, 2016*). Thereafter, on November 10, 2016, the Court of Appeals issued an order stating that based on the Master's actions at the October 4, 2016 hearing, it appeared the Master intended to issue a final written order on the Rule 59(e) motion. (*Order of November 10, 2016*). Accordingly, the Court of Appeals dismissed Appellants' initial appeal without prejudice ruling that the Appellants could appeal after the Master's issuance of a final, written order on the Rule 59(e) motion. (*Id.*).

On October 28, 2016, the Master issued an order ruling on Appellants' motion to reconsider pursuant to Rule 59, SCRCP. (*Order of October 28, 2016*). The Master's Order: (a): Denied Defendants' Motion to Amend on the basis that Defendants did not show good cause to lift the default, and (b): Denied Defendants' Motion to Stay and Compel filed July 11, 2016 on the basis that the affirmative defense of arbitration had been waived and therefore the motion was not properly made. (*Id.*) Appellants received written notice of entry of this order on November 2, 2016. (*Notice of Appeal*).

The Appellants commenced the instant appeal on November 14, 2016, appealing the Orders of the Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough dated July 14, 2016 and October 28, 2016. (*Id.*) On December 2, 2016, the Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss Appeal. (*Respondent's Motion to Dismiss Appeal, dated December 2, 2016*). Thereafter, the parties fully briefed Respondent's motion and, on February 1, 2016, the Court of Appeals issued an order denying Respondent's Motion to Dismiss Appeal and directing Appellants to file their initial brief and designation of matter. (*Order of February 1, 2016*).

FACTS

This case arises out of a construction project in Augusta, Georgia. (*Complaint p.* 2). On March 29, 2012, the Appellant, Restoration Specialists (“Appellant Restoration”) was awarded a contract to construct the Charlie Norwood VAMC Parking Garage in Augusta, Georgia. (“the Norwood Parking Garage Project” or the “Project”). (*Memorandum in Support of Defendants’ Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default Pursuant to SCRCP 55(c)*). Prior to the contract award, the Respondent entered into a Teaming Agreement with Appellant Restoration in December 2011 (*Complaint, Exhibit B*). The Respondent entered into a Subcontract Agreement with Appellant Restoration on September 10, 2014 in connection with the Project. (*Complaint, Exhibit A*.)

Respondent’s Complaint alleges that Appellant Restoration has failed to pay the contract balance due under the Subcontract Agreement and asserts additional claims relating to the Project against the Appellants, Reuben Mark Ward and Lynnette Pennington Ward (“Ward Appellants”) (*Complaint*).

ARGUMENTS

- I. BECAUSE GOOD CAUSE EXISTS FOR RELIEF FROM THE ENTRY OF DEFAULT, THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED APPELLANTS’ MOTION TO SET ASIDE ENTRY OF DEFAULT.

(A): Appellate Standard Of Review.

The decision whether to set aside an entry of default lies solely within the sound discretion of the circuit court. *Harbor Island Owners’ Ass’n v. Preferred Island Props.*, 369 S.C. 540, 544, 633 S.E. 2d 497, 499 (2006). The circuit court’s decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion. *Mitchell Supply Co., Inc. v. Gaffney*, 297 S.C. 160, 162-63, 375 S.E. 2d 321, 322-23 (Ct. App. 1988). An

abuse of discretion occurs when the judge issuing the order was controlled by some error of law or when the order, based upon factual, as distinguished from legal conclusions, is without evidentiary support. *In re Estate of Weeks*, 329 S.C. 251, 259, 495 S.E. 2d 454, 459 (Ct. App. 1997).

(B): The Standard For Granting Relief From An Entry Of Default Under Rule 55(c), SCRCP Is Mere Good Cause.

The standard for granting relief from an entry of default under Rule 55(c), is mere “good cause.” Rule 55(c), SCRCP. *White Oak Manor, Inc. v. Lexington Ins. Co.*, 407 S.C. 1, 753 S.E. 2d 537 (2014). This standard requires a party seeking relief from an entry of default under Rule 55(c) to provide an explanation for the default and give reasons why vacation of the default entry would serve the interests of justice. *Sundown Operating Co. v. Intedge Indus., Inc.*, 383 S.C. 601, 607, 681 S.E. 2d 885, 888 (2009). Once a party has put forth a satisfactory explanation for the default, the trial court must also consider: (1) the timing of the motion for relief; (2) whether the defendant has a meritorious defense, and (3) the degree of prejudice to the plaintiff if relief is granted. *Id.* at 607-08, 681 S.E. 2d at 888.

The law does not favor defaults. Therefore, in applying this standard, Rule 55(c) “is liberally construed to promote justice and dispose of cases on the merits.” *Dixon v. Besco Engineering, Inc.*, 320 S.C. 174, 178, 463 S.E. 2d 636, 638 (Ct. App. 1995).

(C): The Appellants’ Rights To Mandatory Mediation/Arbitration Under The Contract Constitute Good Cause For Relief From The Entry Of Default.

In the present case, the contract giving rise to this action requires all claims arising out of or related to the contract to be mediated, and if not resolved by mediation, to be

resolved by binding arbitration. Pursuant to these provisions, and contemporaneously with the commencement of this action, the Respondent made and served upon Appellants a demand for mandatory mediation/arbitration in its Motion to Stay and Compel. By doing so, the Respondent informed Appellants that it had made a demand for mandatory mediation/arbitration of this dispute under the terms of the contract. Respondent's demand also triggered the requirements of the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act and/or Federal Arbitration Act mandating a stay of this action and compulsory mediation/arbitration. Respondent's demand was consistent with the parties' rights to arbitration under the contract and Appellants' reliance thereon was justified.

Within twenty-four (24) hours of learning of Respondent's application for default and the entry of default against them, the Appellants immediately moved to be relieved from default, citing the mandatory mediation/arbitration provisions and Respondent's Motion to Stay and Compel mediation/arbitration as a grounds for relief. Appellants filed their Motion to Lift Entry of Default within one and a half (1 ½) months of the entry of default. Also, Appellants formally joined in Respondent's motion and filed a separate Motion to Stay and Compel mandatory mediation/arbitration less than four (4) months after Respondent's commencement of suit.

The Court's good cause analysis must include the application of the proper legal standards to these contract provisions as well as the question of waiver/default of the arbitration rights thereunder. The proper legal standards are discussed in the *Initial Brief of Appellants, Arguments Section II (E) (2)* below. Applying any other standards would be an error of law and modify the long standing arbitration jurisprudence of South Carolina, the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina and the Fourth

Circuit Court of Appeals.

Applying the proper legal standard to the evidence on record establishes that the mandatory mediation/arbitration provisions apply to the Respondent's claims and that the Appellants have neither waived nor defaulted upon their rights to arbitration. *See Arguments Section II.*

Since there has been no waiver or default upon Appellants' rights to mandatory mediation/arbitration, the Court is required to stay this litigation and submit the matter to mediation/arbitration. *See Initial Brief of Appellants, Arguments Section II.* Furthermore, by virtue of this requirement to stay the litigation and compel arbitration, the Court must divest itself of subject matter jurisdiction upon submission to mediation/arbitration. *See Initial Brief of Appellants, Arguments Section II.*

Standing alone, these facts and the legal conclusions arising therefrom constitute good cause for lifting the entry of default, staying this action and compelling mandatory mediation/arbitration. *See Rule 55(c), SCRCF; see also Initial Brief of Appellants, Arguments Section II.*

The Master's failure to apply the proper legal standards governing the arbitration rights of the Appellants constitutes an error of law and abuse of discretion under Rule 55(c), SCRCF. Therefore, the Master's Orders of July 14, 2016 and October 28, 2016 should be reversed and the Appellants should be relieved from default.

(D): The Appellants' Provided A Satisfactory Explanation For The Default And Vacation Of The Entry Of Default Will Serve The Interests Of Justice And Reverse The Error Of Law Regarding Appellants' Arbitration Rights.

The Appellants did not file a timely response to the complaint due to an unintentional

and good faith misunderstanding of the status of Appellants' arrangements with The Hanover Insurance Company ("Hanover") and the relation of Respondent's lawsuit thereto. (*Affidavit II of Reuben Mark Ward of June 3, 2016*).

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