IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough, Master in Equity

2016-CP-10-1143
Appellate Case No.: 2016-002308

Palmetto Construction Group, LLC,.....*Respondent,*

v.

Restoration Specialists, LLC, Reuben Mark Ward, and
Lynnette Pennington Ward,*Appellants.*

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Respectfully Submitted By:

Jaan G. Rannik
EPTING & RANNIK, LLC
46A State Street, Charleston, SC 29401
P: 843-377-1871
F: 843-377-1310
jgr@epting-law.com

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

a. Excusable Neglect Standard Was Not Raised on Reconsideration of the Denial of the Motion to Set Aside Default.

Appellants did not cite Rule 60(b) nor advance any arguments pursuant thereto in their July 27, 2016 Motion to Reconsider the trial court’s denial of the Motion to Set Aside the Default. *See Mot. (R. p. 165)* Accordingly, as to the issue of whether Appellants should be relieved from default, any argument that the “excusable neglect” standard applies was waived and is not preserved.

b. Appellants Made No Argument to the Trial Court at Any Time as to Why Their Conduct Constituted Excusable Neglect.

While Appellants' March 10, 2022 Motion to Reconsider the Entry of Judgment *does* cite Rules 60(b)(1) and (5), it advances no argument whatsoever as to how or why Appellants' neglect was "excusable." (**R. p. 457**). It at no point explains how Appellants' failure to answer constitutes "excusable neglect." Instead, it baldly states:

The Defendants should be relieved from the default damages hearing proceedings held on January 31, 2022 and the default judgment entered by the Court on February 28, 2022 should be set aside due to mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect.

(**R. p. 457**).⁴ Simply citing a rule, or providing a formulaic recitation thereof, without advancing any argument as to why that rule should apply is insufficient to preserve the argument for appeal. *See Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 734 (1998) ("It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review. Moreover, an objection must be sufficiently specific to inform the trial court of the point being urged by the objector." (internal citations omitted)). In order for an issue to be considered as having been "raised" to a court, authority must be presented and supporting arguments made. *Langehans v. Smith*, 347 S.C. 348, 352, 554 S.E.2d 681, 683 (Ct. App. 2001) (noting "it is error for the appellate court to consider issues not properly raised to it"); *First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994) ("Appellant fails to provide arguments or supporting authority for his assertion. Thus, he is deemed to have abandoned this issue.").

c. Appellants Did Not Obtain a Ruling on Whether Their Conduct Constituted Excusable Neglect.

⁴ Despite incorporating by reference "all motions, memorandums [*sic*], records, exhibits and documents of Defendants related to the entry of default and the default judgment (and related issues) and all hearing transcripts and court orders contained in the court record of this action," Appellants fail to identify which—if any—of these myriad materials contains any argument that their failure to answer constituted "excusable neglect."

Further, to preserve an argument for appeal, the trial court must rule on that argument in the first instance. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 734 (1998) (an issue “must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review”). On reconsideration, the trial court did not address excusable neglect as a grounds for relief from default.⁵ Thereafter, Appellants failed to move under Rule 59(e) and request a ruling on that question.

Accordingly, Appellants failed to preserve any argument that the “excusable neglect” standard should apply to the question of setting aside the default. This Court should review the Master’s ruling with regard only to the “good cause” standard.

2. Appellants Can Demonstrate Neither Good Cause Nor Excusable Neglect

The Master’s decision is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros., Inc.*, 298 S.C. 462, 381 S.E.2d 499 (Ct. App. 1989) (“The decision of whether to grant relief from an entry of default is solely within the sound discretion of the trial court.”) In the present case, the Master correctly concluded that the Defendants failed to demonstrate that the default should be lifted. This ruling was amply supported by the evidence, was not controlled by an error of law, and therefore was not an abuse of discretion. *Belle Hall Plantation Homeowner’s Association, Inc. v. Murray*, 419 S.C. 605, 615, 799 S.E.2d 310, 315 (Ct. App. 2017).

Appellants were personally served with PCG’s summons and complaint on March 14, 2016. (**R. pp. 100-105- Affidavits of Service**). The summons stated:

YOU ARE HEREBY SUMMONED *and required to answer the Complaint herein*, a copy of which is served upon you, and to serve

⁵ Given the volume and convoluted nature of the filings in this matter, even had the issue been properly raised before the trial court, it would be entirely understandable that a court would overlook this un-fleshed-out argument in a 21-page motion incorporating the entire record. “Judges are not like pigs, hunting for truffles buried in briefs.” *United States v. Dunkel*, 927 F.2d 955, 956 (7th Cir. 1991).

a copy of your written response to the said Complaint on the subscribers at the law office of Andrew K. Epting, Jr., LLC, 46A State Street, Charleston, South Carolina, 29401, *within thirty (30) days of service hereof*, exclusive of the day of service; *and if you fail to answer the Complaint within the time aforesaid, the Plaintiff in this action will apply to the Court for the relief demanded in the Complaint.*

(**R. p. 45**) (emphasis added). No answer having been timely filed, PCG moved for default on April 18, 2016, and an default order was entered on April 21, 2016. Prior to the damages hearing scheduled for June 6, 2016,⁶ Restoration submitted an affidavit by Mr. Ward purportedly providing a justification for Appellants' failure to answer. Therein, he stated:

4. I received the Summons and Complaint in the above referenced action on or about March 14, 2016.
5. Prior to receipt of the Summons and Complaint, I was contacted by James E. Rudnik, Esq., the Director – Risk Mitigation|Surety for The Hanover Insurance Group regarding the bond.
6. On or about March 10, 2016, Mr. Rudnik notified me of certain bond claims that had been made against the Bond.
7. Pursuant to my discussions with Mr. Rudnik, Restoration Specialists has made direct payment to several subcontractors deemed to have valid bond claims.
8. Further, Restoration Specialists continues to have discussions with Hanover regarding other bond claims made.
9. When I received the Summons and Complaint for the instant action, I thought that it was related to my arrangements with Hanover.
10. I am not an attorney and did not understand that the above captioned action was separate and apart from the bond claims that I have been working directly with Mr. Rudnik and Hanover to address.

(**R. pp. 108-09**). The affidavit failed to explain how a summons and complaint from PCG—

⁶ The damages hearing was deferred on account of Appellants' motion for a continuance.

Restoration Specialists’ teaming partner and co-guarantor on the surety bond—could be regarded as something “related to my arrangements with Hanover” that did not require a response. The affidavit failed to explain why the explicit direction in the Summons to answer within 30 days was not followed. It failed to explain why the Summons’ explicit statement that “if you fail to answer the Complaint within the time aforesaid, the Plaintiff in this action will apply to the Court for the relief demanded in the Complaint” was insufficient to put Appellants that PCG *would* apply to the Court for the relief demanded if they did not answer the complaint. The affidavit failed to explain why the Summons and Complaint were *not* sufficient to inform Appellants that “this was a separate action,” whereas a notice of a default damages hearing apparently *was* sufficient. *See Aff.* at ¶ 12.

(R. p. 109)

The Master considered the affidavit and stated:

Your Motion for Relief from the Entry of Default — I’m not going to rule on yet. *There’s not much I saw in that affidavit that would give me indication that I would grant that motion. I can tell you that right now. Okay?*

(R. p. 577). On the basis of the lackluster effort to justify Restoration’s failure to answer, the Master was well within in his discretion to deny Appellants’ request to set aside the default. Accordingly, this ruling should not be disturbed on appeal.

3. Appellants Do Not Have a Meritorious Defense.

In cursory fashion, Appellants argue they have meritorious defenses justifying the lifting of the default (**Brief** at 17). This argument fails, because (i) Appellants merely list them in a cursory fashion (or simply by incorporating prior memoranda and filings) without argument or explanation and therefore fails to raise the issues for this Court’s review;⁷ (ii) the purported

⁷ *See Langehans v. Smith*, 347 S.C. 348, 352, 554 S.E.2d 681, 683 (Ct. App. 2001).

meritorious defenses were not supported by any evidence sufficient to make a *prima facie* showing to the trial court when seeking to set aside the default, and (iii) the purported defenses are not meritorious defenses *to liability* as would justify setting aside the default. See *Wilder v. Blue Ribbon Taxicab Corp.*, 396 S.C. 139, 145–46, 719 S.E.2d 703, 706–07 (Ct. App. 2011) (“Under the *Wham* factors, we likewise find no abuse of discretion in Judge Barber's finding that Blue Ribbon did not show good cause sufficient to relieve it from the entry of default. [. . .] Regarding a meritorious defense, the second factor, Judge Barber accepted Blue Ribbon's acknowledgment that it had no meritorious defense to liability.”); *McClurg v. Deaton*, 380 S.C. 563, 575–76, 671 S.E.2d 87, 94 (Ct. App. 2008) (noting the appellant “failed to make any showing of a meritorious defense” as “[t]here is no evidence of record, by affidavit or otherwise, to suggest that the accident was the result of anything other than [appellant’s] negligence”).

Nevertheless, PCG responds below to all defenses that Appellants expressly mention in their brief; however, it has no way to respond to the nebulous incorporation by Appellants of “all additional defenses asserted by Appellants in support of its efforts to lift the entry of default and set aside the default judgment, including those contained in Appellants’ legal memoranda and asserted in the damages hearing and post-trial motions.”⁸

a. The Arbitration Provision

Appellants claim the arbitration provision constitutes a meritorious defense. However, the U.S. Supreme Court has held that an arbitration provision is not a substantive or contractual defense to an action’s merits. See *Mitsubishi Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc.*, 473 U.S. 614, 628, 105 S. Ct. 3346, 3354 (1985) (agreeing to arbitrate a claim does not forgo or convey

⁸ Further, Appellants moved to exceed the page limit for their initial brief, and this Court denied the motion. Appellants seek to circumvent the Court’s order by incorporating reams of arguments made in prior filings.

substantive rights but merely submits their resolution to an arbitral, not judicial, forum).

b. Appellants' Assertion that PCG was Overpaid

Appellants claim as a defense that PCG was overpaid on its subcontract. This may have been a defense to damages, but it is not a defense to liability regarding whether Appellants breached their agreements. Nor is it meritorious. The testimony and records presented to the Master at the damages hearing demonstrated that PCG was owed \$184,858.69 under the subcontract, and the Master so held.⁹ This ruling was amply supported by the evidence, is not subject to reversal, and is not a meritorious defense to liability.

c. Profit Sharing

Appellants next claim as a meritorious defense that there is no profit-sharing provision in the Teaming Agreement. Again, this is not a defense to liability for Appellants' theft of the money paid by the VA, but is simply a defense to a specific category of damages. Nor is it meritorious.

The Teaming Agreement states, “[n]othing herein shall be construed as providing for the sharing of profits or losses arising out of the efforts of either or both of the Parties; *except as may be provided for in any resultant contractual arrangement agreed to between the Parties.*” (R. p. 1029) (emphasis added). This is exactly what happened with the VA Project, and the subcontract between the parties and the parties' conduct reflects the parties' agreement to share the profits. The “PCG Subcontract Breakdown” incorporated into the subcontract and attached thereto¹⁰ expressly

⁹ The Master found that that Appellants' conduct in paying PCG amounts above the original contract price following the increase in the scope of work demonstrated the parties' intent that PCG would be paid the total costs of the work. (R. p. 25); *see also* R. p. 688).

¹⁰ Appellants argue that the PCG Subcontract Breakdown is not a part of the subcontract, because the subcontract at one point refers to a “PCG Subcontract Breakdown dated 9/5/14,” and the “PCG Subcontract Breakdown” attached to the contract contains no date. However, the subcontract separately and expressly incorporates the “PCG Subcontract Breakdown” by page 15 of the subcontract at § 16.1.4.2 (“Other documents: 1. PCG Subcontract Breakdown”).

refers to the “RS [Restoration Specialists] / PCG [Palmetto Construction Group] Projected 50% Profit Share.” (R. p. 1035, 1050). Further, Mrs. Peterson testified at the default damages hearing that Restoration originally honored this agreement, providing contemporaneous business records substantiating that testimony. (R. p. 642, 939).

Appellants’ assertion that there is no profit-sharing agreement between PCG and Restoration Specialists is demonstrably untrue. It is not a meritorious defense.

d. Waiver of Consequential Losses

Appellants claim the teaming agreement between the parties contained a waiver of indirect, special, or consequential losses. Once again, this would be a defense to damages, not a defense to liability for stealing money from the Government to the detriment of PCG. Nor did Appellants raise this argument at the damages hearing, indicating that Appellants apparently felt this was not a meritorious defense to damages either. And it is not meritorious. It was the parties’ subcontract that provided for payment for PCG’s work under the subcontract and a split of the profits, both of which Appellants breached; and Appellants have made no showing that the subcontract contained any waiver of consequential damages, as it does not.

d. Legal or Equitable Indemnity

Finally, Appellants contend that PCG waived or is barred from claiming indemnity pursuant to the indemnity agreement signed with Hanover. First, with regard to whether this constitutes a meritorious defenses, this argument is not preserved, as it was not raised to the trial court when Appellants sought to set aside the default. *See R. p. 137-38*. However, it would fail even if preserved This argument would, at most, be a defense to the award of a particular category of damages. It is not a defense to the substantive allegations that PCG was harmed by Appellants’ stealing of the funds paid by the Government for the VA project.

e. Summary

Each of the arguments Appellants raise to demonstrate a “meritorious defense” fail. None is a defense to substantive liability, but at most constitutes an argument regarding damages. *Wilder v. Blue Ribbon Taxicab Corp.*, 396 S.C. 139, 145–46, 719 S.E.2d 703, 706–07 (Ct. App. 2011). The Master did not abuse his discretion in refusing to set aside the default on the basis of a “meritorious defense.”

4. Reconsideration of Order of Default

After the denial of their motion to set aside the default on July 20, 2016, Appellants moved for reconsideration on July 27, 2016 pursuant to Rule 59(e) only, and not under Rule 60. This is significant, as this State’s Supreme Court noted in its decision in this matter that Rule 60(b) may permit Restoration to argue excusable neglect as a grounds for obtaining relief from the default order, rather than the higher standard of “good cause shown.” *Palmetto Constr. Grp. v. Restoration Specialists, LLC*, 432 S.C. 633, 639–40, 856 S.E.2d 150, 153 (2021) . However, Appellants having not argued excusable neglect before the trial court with regard to the denial of their request to be relieved from default, the issue is not preserved for appeal.

Nor is there any basis to find the Master abused his discretion in denying this motion to reconsider for the same reasons noted *supra*, Parts I.A.1–3 .

B. The Master Properly Entered Default Judgment Against All Defendants.

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